IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

EN BANC

SUPREME COURT FILED

PITZER COLLEGE,

Petitioner,

APR 2 4 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

vs.

INDIAN HARBOR INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

Deputy



QUESTIONS CERTIFIED BY THE NINTH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS
CASE No. 14-56017

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

MURTAUGH MEYER NELSON & TREGLIA

MICHAEL J. MURTAUGH (STATE BAR NO. 57874)
LAWRENCE J. DIPINTO (STATE BAR NO. 147320)
THOMAS N. FAY (STATE BAR NO. 290907)
2603 MAIN STREET, 9TH FLOOR
IRVINE, CALIFORNIA 92614-6232
(949) 794-4000 • FAX: (949) 794-4099
mmurtaugh@mmnt.com / ldipinto@mmnt.com / tfay@mmnt.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER PITZER COLLEGE

INTRODUCTION

Though this Court certified two questions for review, this case presents only one basic question, which this Court has answered before: does California law permit insurance companies to achieve a technical forfeiture of coverage as a result of a non-prejudicial breach of an immaterial term of the insurance contract? This Court's answer to that question has always been a resounding no, regardless of the artifice employed by insurers attempting to engineer a contrary result. The Court should honor its well-established jurisprudence on this theme and should reject Indian Harbor's effort to sidestep this basic principle of California's insurance law.

Indian Harbor's first tactic is to employ a New York choice of law provision to achieve a strict application of its notice provision. Such a strict application would be contrary to more than fifty years of California's "settled law," which instead would apply the "notice-prejudice rule" and require a showing of prejudice by Indian Harbor to enforce the notice provision. Indian Harbor's tactic has a particularly ironic and inequitable twist: New York's state legislature enacted the notice-prejudice rule, but limited it to insurance policies "issued or delivered" within the state of New York (thus protecting only New York insureds), and New York's high court recognized the notice-prejudice rule by judicial decision, but only for reinsurance contracts (thus protecting insurers). As a result, under New

York law, Pitzer's status as a disfavored California insured deprives Pitzer of the protection of the notice-prejudice rule, creating a technical forfeiture of coverage.

California's choice of law rules should prevent this inequitable result. When a "fundamental public policy" of the state of California would be violated by application of another state's law, California courts will refuse to enforce a choice of law provision as to that issue. This Court should hold that California's well-established notice-prejudice rule is a fundamental public policy of the state of California.

Indian Harbor's second tactic is to employ third-party coverage case law regarding consent provisions to a first-party coverage situation, i.e., outside of the appropriate context. In third-party policies, consent provisions secure a crucial right for insurers: the right to control defense and settlement of the third party's claim. In deference to this right, California courts have treated consent provisions in third-party policies differently from notice and cooperation provisions, applying consent provisions strictly, without requiring a showing of prejudice.

But under this policy, in the absence of the insurer's right to control defense and settlement of a third-party claim, a consent provision secures no crucial rights for the insurer, and should be treated the same way as similar conditions precedent, namely the notice and cooperation provisions.

As such, this Court should apply the notice-prejudice rule to the consent provision at issue in this case.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The California Supreme Court has jurisdiction over the present case as a result of its March 22, 2017 order granting a request for certification of questions by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.548.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Pitzer College ("Pitzer") sued Indian Harbor Insurance Company ("Indian Harbor") in California state court in 2013, alleging that Indian Harbor had breached its insurance contract with Pitzer. Indian Harbor removed the case to federal court on the basis of diversity, then, in 2014, brought a motion for summary judgment based upon Pitzer's delay in notifying Indian Harbor of Pitzer's claim under the policy, and upon the resulting failure to secure Indian Harbor's consent before incurring costs. The District Court granted the motion on May 22, 2014, and judgment was entered on June 3, 2014. Pitzer timely appealed from that judgment to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. Pitzer's appeal was argued before a three-judge panel of the Ninth Circuit on October 5, 2016 (Judges Harry Pregerson, Richard A. Paez, and John T. Noonan Jr.). After oral argument,

on December 12, 2016, Judge Noonan was replaced on the panel by Judge Andrew D. Hurwitz.

On January 13, 2017, the Ninth Circuit requested that this Court certify two questions of California law for decision pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.548. On March 22, 2017, this Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request, restating the certified questions as reproduced above.

II. FACTS

Pitzer is one of the Claremont Colleges, a collection of private colleges in southern California. The Claremont University Consortium, a separate entity, bargains and contracts on behalf of the Claremont Colleges with outside entities for certain services commonly needed by all the member colleges (including insurance). (E.R. 68.)¹ The Claremont University Consortium entered an agreement with Indian Harbor on behalf of its members, including Pitzer, whereby Indian Harbor would provide insurance coverage for payment of remediation expenses resulting from pollution on property belonging to the colleges (the "Policy"). (E.R. 61, 67-68.) The Policy was issued in Pennsylvania and delivered to the Claremont Colleges' broker in Arizona. (E.R. 211.) It contains a choice-of-law provision, selecting New York law. (E.R. 65.) Indian Harbor is a

¹ All record citations herein are to the Excerpts of Record prepared pursuant to the Ninth Circuit's procedure.

Delaware corporation, with its principal place of business in Connecticut. (E.R. 78.)

In January 2011, Pitzer was beginning construction of a new dormitory on its campus when, during excavation, construction workers discovered discolored soils present on the site, halting all activity on the project. (E.R. 61.) Pitzer quickly determined that the discolored soil was contaminated with lead. (E.R. 61, 72, 200.) With the costs of construction delays mounting (thousands of dollars per day), Pitzer's employees retained environmental consultants and an attorney specializing in environmental law to determine, as quickly as possible, the best way forward. (E.R. 79-81.) Pitzer feared that any further delay would jeopardize the completion of the dormitory in time for the 2012-2013 academic year, which would have forced Pitzer to incur the enormous cost of securing off-campus housing for its students. (E.R. 81.)

Pitzer's environmental consultants presented Pitzer with a range of alternatives. (E.R. 79, 96.) The least expensive and fastest option, which also carried the lowest risk of future liability, was the use of a transportable treatment unit ("TTU") to treat the lead-contaminated soil onsite. (E.R. 79.) By a fortunate coincidence, one of only two TTUs licensed for this purpose in southern California happened to be immediately available. (E.R. 80.) These TTUs are normally reserved for use far in advance. (E.R. 80.) Pitzer immediately retained the available unit and commenced

remediation. (E.R. 80-81.) Believing it was solely responsible for the cost of the remediation, Pitzer spent approximately \$2 million and completed the cleanup on April 12, 2011, just over three months after the first discovery of discolored soil on the project. (E.R. 65, 70, 79, 81) The construction of the dormitory was ultimately completed with only a few days to spare before students were to move into the new dormitory. (E.R. 81.) Had Pitzer delayed, or been prevented from immediately retaining the TTU, Pitzer would have incurred not only further construction delay costs, but also the off-campus housing costs for its displaced students. (E.R. 81, 83.)

After the discovery of the discolored soil and during the remediation, Pitzer's employees were focused on the immediate resolution of the problem, and on getting the project back on course. (E.R. 79-82.) During the period in which the remediation took place, Pitzer's Vice President and Treasurer, Yuet Lee, was unaware that the Indian Harbor Policy covered the remediation. (E.R. 81.) Approximately two months after completion of the remediation, during an insurance renewal meeting with the Claremont University Consortium, Mr. Lee mentioned the remediation to an employee of the Claremont University Consortium, and asked whether insurance coverage might be available. (E.R. 82, 161-162.) After confirming that the Policy covered the remediation, Pitzer tendered its claim to Indian Harbor on July 11, 2011. (E.R. 82.) Indian Harbor acknowledged the claim on

August 10, 2011, and denied the claim on March 16, 2012, citing the notice and consent provisions of the Policy. (E.R. 75-76.)

The notice² and consent provisions of the Policy, upon which Indian Harbor relied to deny Pitzer's claim, are reproduced below:

The notice provision:

- 1. The INSURED shall forward to the Company or to any of its authorized agents every demand, notice, summons, order or other process received by the INSURED or the INSURED's representative as soon as practicable; and
- 2. The INSURED shall provide to the Company, whether orally or in writing, notice of the particulars with respect to the time, place and circumstances thereof, along with the names and addresses of the injured and of available witnesses. In the event of oral notice, the INSURED agrees to furnish to the Company a written report as soon as practicable. (E.R. 63-64.)

The consent provision:

No costs, charges or expenses shall be incurred, nor payments made, obligations assumed or remediation commenced without the Company's written consent which shall not be unreasonably withheld. This provision does not apply to costs incurred by the INSURED on an emergency basis, where any delay on the part of the INSURED would cause injury to persons or damage to property, or increase significantly the cost of responding to any POLLUTION CONDITION. If such emergency occurs, the INSURED shall notify the Company immediately thereafter. (E.R. 64-65.)

² In the Ninth Circuit's Order requesting certification of questions to this Court, the Ninth Circuit inadvertently referred to the "policy period" provision, rather than the separate "notice" provision, which is reproduced herein, and upon which Indian Harbor relies. The parties do not dispute that the claim was tendered within the applicable policy period.

The Policy contains the following choice-of-law provision, designating New York law:

Choice of Law – All matters arising hereunder including questions related to the validity, interpretation, performance and enforcement of this Policy shall be determined in accordance with the law and practice of the State of New York (notwithstanding New York's conflicts of law rules). (E.R. 65.)

ARGUMENT

- I. THE NOTICE-PREJUDICE RULE IS A FUNDAMENTAL PUBLIC POLICY OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
 - A. Origins of the Conflict of Law at Issue

As this Court held more than fifty years ago in Campbell v. Allstate Ins. Co. (1963) 60 Cal.2d 303, in order to validly deny coverage based upon an insured's delay in providing notice, an insurer must prove that it suffered substantial prejudice from the delay. (Shell Oil Co. v. Winterthur Swiss Ins. Co. (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 715, 760-761.) This principle has been recognized as "settled law" in California, and other jurisdictions have recognized that the rule is a "strong public policy" and a "strong and abiding policy" of the state of California. (See Shell Oil Co., supra at 760 ("settled law"); National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburg, PA v. General Star Indem. Co. (3d Cir. 2007) 216 Fed.Appx. 273, 280 ("strong public policy"); National Semiconductor Corp. v. Allendale Mut. Ins. Co. (D.Conn. 1982) 549 F.Supp. 1195, 1200 ("strong and abiding policy").)

principle by application of New York law through the choice-of-law provision in its policy.

New York's law on the notice-prejudice rule is tortured and Kafkaesque. The baseline, common law rule in New York is the strict notice rule, which applies a blanket bar to coverage for even short delays in providing notice, regardless of prejudice. (Indian Harbor Ins. Co. v. City of San Diego (S.D.N.Y. 2013) 972 F.Supp.2d 634, 643, aff'd 2014 WL 4922143 (2d Cir.).)³ However, this rule has two notable exceptions: a statutory exception applying the notice prejudice rule to policies "issued or delivered" within the state of New York (see New York Insurance Law § 3420(a)), and an exception for reinsurance contracts (where the insured is itself an insurance company). (See *Unigard Sec. Ins. Co. v. North River* Ins. Co. (N.Y. 1992) 594 N.E.2d 571.) The former exception is relatively new and, according to the bill sponsor's memorandum, was driven by the fact that "[c]urrent law . . . leads to an inequitable outcome with insurers collecting billions of dollars in premiums annually, and disclaiming coverage over an inconsequential technicality." (Bill Sponsor's Memorandum, 2008 New York Session Law 388.) In practical effect, New York law requires an insurer to show prejudice to deny coverage only when

³ The courts in *Indian Harbor* and in other cases have sometimes used the term "no-prejudice rule" to describe this rule. Because of the possible confusion between the "no-prejudice rule" and the "notice-prejudice rule," this brief uses the term "strict notice rule."

the insured is either (1) an insurance company, or (2) located in New York.⁴ All other insureds who delay in providing notice face an automatic forfeiture of coverage.

Since neither exception would apply here, there is a conflict between California and New York law. California law would require Indian Harbor to show prejudice to obtain summary judgment, while New York law would not. The determination of which state's law to apply to the notice provision is dispositive, as the trial court noted: "If prejudice is required, Defendant would not be able to prevail at summary judgment by relying on the Notice Provision." (E.R. 11.)

California courts will ordinarily enforce a contractual choice of law provision, but will impose California law where a "strong" or "fundamental" public policy of the state of California would be violated by application of the contractually chosen law, and where California has a materially greater interest than the chosen state in the determination of the particular issue. (*Nedlloyd Lines B.V. v. Sup. Ct.* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 459, 466 ("fundamental policy"); *Frame v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.* (1971) 20 Cal.App.3d 668, 673 ("strong public policy").) In *Nedlloyd*, this Court articulated the standard for the determination of whether or not a

⁴ A cynical observer might conclude that New York's insurance law intentionally provides a favorable rule (the notice-prejudice rule) for favored classes of persons (New York residents and insurance companies), while derogating out-of-state insureds.

particular rule is a "fundamental policy," to be enforced despite a contractual choice of law provision specifying the law of another jurisdiction: namely, whether the rule in question is "designed to restrict freedom of contract," or "designed to preclude freedom of contract in this context." (*Nedlloyd*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at 468, 471.) A rule is designed to restrict freedom of contract when private parties to a contract cannot contract around the rule. (See *Brack v. Omni Loan Co., Ltd.* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1312, 1323.)

B. A Wealth of Authority Supports the Proposition that the Notice-Prejudice Rule is a Fundamental Public Policy of the State of California

California has a strong public policy in favor of the notice-prejudice rule. The United States Supreme Court, describing this Court's seminal Campbell decision on this point, wrote, "Announcing the notice-prejudice rule in [Campbell], the California Supreme Court emphasized the 'public policy of this state' in favor of compensating insureds." (UNUM Life Ins. Co. of America v. Ward (1999) 526 U.S. 358, 372.) In the Ward case, the Council of State Governments filed an amicus brief in which it wrote "California's notice-prejudice rule . . . is grounded in public policy concerns for the protection of policyholders against forfeiture of their insurance benefits." (Brief for Council of State Governments, et al. as Amici Curiae at 12, Ward, 526 U.S. 358.) The Supreme Court cited this portion of the amicus brief, stating that California's grounding of the

notice-prejudice rule in policy concerns specific to the insurance industry was "key to [their] decision." (*Ward*, *supra* at 372.)

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, in rejecting an express contractual waiver of the notice-prejudice rule, has also described the notice-prejudice rule as "California's strong public policy." (Service Management Systems, Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co. (9th Cir. 2007) 216 Fed. Appx. 662, 664.)⁵ The Shell Oil case, the leading modern case on the subject, described the notice-prejudice rule as "settled law" in California. (Shell Oil Co., supra, 12 Cal.App.4th at 760.) The Third Circuit Court of Appeals, discussing the notice-prejudice rule, wrote, "California law is imbued with a strong public policy against technical forfeitures in the insurance context." (National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburg, PA v. General Star Indem. Co., supra, 216 Fed. Appx. at 280.) The United States District Court for the District of Connecticut also recognized California's "strong and abiding policy [requiring] that insurers prove prejudice to escape liability under the notice provision of an insurance contract." (National Semiconductor Corp. v. Allendale Mut. Ins. Co., supra, 549 F.Supp. at 1200.)

Even New York itself recognizes California's strong public policy in favor of the notice-prejudice rule. In *Steadfast Insurance Co. v. Casden*

⁵ Though this decision was initially issued as unpublished, the case can still be cited for its persuasive value pursuant to Ninth Circuit Rule 36-3(b) and Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 32.1.

Properties, Inc. (N.Y. App. Div. 2007) 41 A.D.3d 120, 837 N.Y.S.2d 116, 121, the New York Supreme Court's Appellate Division⁶ held that "California law is imbued with a strong public policy against technical forfeitures in the insurance context." In Steadfast, as in the Service Management Systems case before the Ninth Circuit, discussed above, the insurance policy in question contained an explicit waiver of the notice-prejudice rule. Citing the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals' opinion in Service Management Systems, the New York court held that this explicit waiver was "void as against public policy" under California law. (Steadfast, supra at 121.)

The Steadfast and Service Management Systems cases were followed by a recent case before the Wyoming Supreme Court, Century Surety Company v. Jim Hipner, LLC (2016) 377 P.3d 784, in which the Wyoming Supreme Court, citing Steadfast and Service Management Systems, and answering questions certified by the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals, held that an express waiver of the notice-prejudice rule was void as against Wyoming's public policy. The Wyoming court conducted a nationwide survey of court decisions and secondary authority considering the notice-prejudice rule, and concluded (as this Court did in 1963) that "the notice-

⁶ An intermediate appellate court - the New York equivalent of California's Courts of Appeal.

prejudice rule is supported by sound public policy." (Century Surety Company, supra at 792.)

The Steadfast, Service Management Systems, and Century Surety Company decisions and the nature of the notice-prejudice rule itself both demonstrate that the notice-prejudice rule is "designed to restrict freedom of contract" under *Nedlloyd*, and is therefore a fundamental public policy of the state of California. As occasionally formulated, the notice-prejudice rule "creates a mandatory contract term." (Cisneros v. UNUM Life Ins. Co. of America (9th Cir. 1998) 134 F.3d 939, 946.) Thus, while a strict reading of the contract would void coverage when the insured fails to provide notice "as soon as practicable," the overriding public policy against technical forfeitures of insurance coverage causes a deviation from the contract's literal terms. Similarly, as the Ninth Circuit, the New York Superior Court's Appellate Division, and the Supreme Court of Wyoming have all held, an attempt by the insurer to contract around the noticeprejudice rule is void as against public policy.

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