## SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 26 2017

S239510

Deputy (2.2510)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

### PITZER COLLEGE,

Petitioner,

VS.

## INDIAN HARBOR INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent

QUESTIONS CERTIFIED BY THE NINTH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 14-56017

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

DUANE MORRIS LLP

Max H. Stern (SBN 154424)

E-mail: mhstern@duanemorris.com Jessica E. La Londe (SBN 235744) E-mail: jelalonde@duanemorris.com

a T

Spear Tower

One Market Plaza, Suite 2200 San Francisco, CA 94105-1127 Telephone: +1 415-957-3000

Fax: +1 415 957 3001

DUANE MORRIS LLP

Katherine Nichols (SBN 228893) E-mail: knichols@duanemorris.com 865 South Figueroa Street, Suite 3100

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

## **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE NOTICE-PREJUDICE RULE IS NOT A FUNDAMENTAL POLICY OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE PURPOSE OF A CHOICE OF LAW ANALYSIS
  - A. To Override a Contractual Choice of Law Provision, the Policy Must be "Fundamental," Which Means That It Must Be Set Forth in a Statute, Constitution, or Principle of Unconscionability, and Designed to Restrict Freedom of Contract
    - 1. Under *Nedlloyd*, the Policy Necessary to Override the Parties' Contractual Choice of Law Must Be "Fundamental," Not Just "Strong"

In *Nedlloyd Lines B.V. v. Superior Court* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 459, this Court for the first time "considered the enforceability of a contractual choice-of-law provision." (*Id.* at 464.) In that case, this Court considered whether a plaintiff could assert common law tort claims for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing (bad faith) and breach of fiduciary duty, as to a shareholder agreement that specified Hong Kong law (which did not recognize such tort claims), where the courts below had applied California law and so granted leave to amend on demurrers to the claims. (*Id.* at 463, 467-71.)

In *Nedlloyd*, this Court confirmed that California has a "strong policy favoring enforcement" of choice of law provisions. (*Id.* at 464-465.) The Court viewed the plaintiff's arguments as seeking to create claims "by disregarding the law [plaintiff] voluntarily agreed to accept as binding," a result that would "undermine California's policy of respecting the choices made by parties to voluntarily negotiated agreements." (*Id.* at 471.)

After analyzing its prior decision on forum clauses and prior intermediate appellate decision on choice of law clauses, this Court decided

to adopt and direct California courts to follow the Restatement Second of Conflicts of Laws ("Restatement section 187"). In setting out the test that California courts should apply pursuant to Restatement section 187, this Court stated that in the last step of the analysis a court determines "whether the chosen state's law is contrary to a *fundamental* policy of California. If there is no such conflict, the court shall enforce the parties' choice of law." (*Id.* at 466 (emphasis in original).)

The Court ultimately reversed the leave to amend to assert the claims, finding no fundamental California policy was offended by completely depriving the plaintiff of its bad faith and fiduciary duty causes of action. (*Id.* at 468, 471.) The Court reasoned that California's bad faith law did not reflect "a government regulatory policy designed to restrict freedom of contract" and, as to fiduciary duty, there was "no California statute or constitutional provision designed to preclude freedom of contract in this context." (*Id.* at 468, 471.)

The term "fundamental" – not "strong" – is used in Restatement section 187 to describe how important a public policy must be to override a contractual choice of law. In discussing and applying the relevant portion of the test, this Court in *Nedlloyd* used the word "fundamental" twelve times, including one time where it italicized the word (*id.* at 466) and one time where it used the word in quotation marks: "We next consider whether application of the law chosen by the parties would be contrary to 'a fundamental policy' of California" (*id.* at 468). The decision never used the word "strong" to describe the required policy necessary to supersede parties' agreement to a particular state's law; in fact, it only used the word "strong" to describe California's public policy of enforcing choice of law provisions. (*Id.* at 465.) The words used in the *Nedlloyd* decision establish

that Pitzer is wrong in contending that the Court's use of the term "fundamental" was not significant.<sup>3</sup>

Moreover, "fundamental" and "strong" are not synonyms of one another, and their dictionary definitions are distinct. (*Compare* Merriam Webster (10th Ed.), p. 472, "fundamental" (e.g., "serving as an original or generating source" or "belonging to one's innate or ingrained characteristics") *with* Merriam Webster (10th Ed.), p. 1166, "strong" (e.g., "not mild or weak" or "well established").)

It makes sense that the modern approach as articulated in Restatement section 187 and *Nedlloyd* involves a careful choice of words in requiring a "fundamental" policy to overcome a choice of law clause. Logically, something more than a "strong" policy should be necessary to overcome California's equally "strong" public policy in favor of enforcing parties' choice of law. (*Nedlloyd*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at 465; *see also Washington Mutual Bank*, *FA v. Superior Court* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 906, 917.)

In arguing it should only have to offer a "strong public policy" to avoid the choice of law provision that undermines its claim, Pitzer cites to a pre-Nedlloyd case: Frame v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. (1971) 20 Cal.App.3d 668. As noted by Justice Kennard in her Nedlloyd concurrence and dissent, "strong policy" was used before Nedlloyd adopted Restatement section 187. (Nedlloyd, supra, 3 Cal.4th at 479-480.) Therefore, the wording of the test as used in these pre-Nedlloyd cases should not be relied on in identifying the proper standard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Justice Kennard's concurrence and dissent in *Nedlloyd* noted the existence of a distinction between the historical California "strong" articulation and the Restatement's "fundamental" standard, describing the two as only "similar." (*Nedlloyd*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at 479, 483.)

This Court has substantively addressed the choice of law test two times following *Nedlloyd*. In *Washington Mutual Bank*, *supra*, 24 Cal.4th 906, the Court used only "fundamental" to describe the standard (and then ultimately remanded the case to the trial court for a choice of law determination). In *Discover Bank v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 148, the Court cited both *Nedlloyd* and *Washington Mutual* in setting forth the correct "fundamental" standard in comments to guide the Court of Appeal on remand. The word "strong" does show up two times in *Discover Bank*, both times when quoting *America Online*, *Inc. v. Superior Court* (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 1, which in turn was quoting the pre-*Nedlloyd* case *Hall v. Superior Court* (1983) 150 Cal.App.3d 411.5

Of the 27 published post-Nedlloyd Court of Appeal cases that have addressed the Nedlloyd test, 20 have used "fundamental" in describing the standard necessary to overcome parties' choice of law (and not "strong"). In light of the overwhelming number of cases that have used "fundamental" and not "strong" to describe the necessary policy, the very few cases that have referred to a "strong" policy as being the standard – mostly in dicta – do not provide a reasoned basis to depart from the actual standard specified in Nedlloyd. (Discover Bank, supra, 36 Cal.4th 148 (see discussion in prior paragraph); Maxim Crane Works, L.P. v. Tilbury Constructors (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 286 (used both "strong" and "fundamental," but relative importance of the required policy was not material because the court found there was no policy implicated); America Online, supra, 90 Cal.App.4th 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Advanced Bionics Corp. v. Medtronic, Inc. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 697, as modified (Mar. 5, 2003) cites Nedlloyd but the Court expressly stated it was not reaching choice of law issues.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> On remand, the Court of Appeal correctly applied the "fundamental" standard. (*Discover Bank v. Superior Court* (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 886, 893.)

(quoted pre-Nedlloyd case Hall, involved a policy as expressed in a statute, and considered choice of forum, not choice of law); Application Group, Inc. v. Hunter Group, Inc. (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 881 (used the term "strong" in citing to pre-Nedlloyd cases, but otherwise used the term "fundamental"); Weber, Lipshie & Co. v. Christian (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 645 (dicta).)

Pitzer incorrectly implies that *Nedlloyd* approved of the use of the "strong" policy wording used in prior Court of Appeal cases. (*See Mencor Enterprises, Inc. v. Hets Equities Corp.* (1987) 190 Cal.App.3d 432, 435-436; *Hall, supra*, 150 Cal.App.3d at 417; *Ashland Chemical Co. v. Provence* (1982) 129 Cal.App.3d 790, 794-795; and *Gamer v. duPont Glore Forgan, Inc.* (1976) 65 Cal.App.3d 280, 287.) The *Nedlloyd* decision observed that these prior cases, "although not always explicitly referring to the Restatement, also overwhelmingly reflect the modern, mainstream approach adopted in the Restatement." (*Nedlloyd, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at 464.) The Court then stated that it was "reaffirm[ing] this approach," by adopting Restatement section 187. (*Id.*) However, it was the "fundamental" standard of Restatement section 187, and not the prior phrasing of the "strong" policy standard, <sup>7</sup> that *Nedlloyd* directed that California courts use in future cases.

This Court should confirm that a policy must be "fundamental" in order to override California's "strong" public policy in favor of choice of law provisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As relevant to the discussion in the next section, each of these four cases concerned a public policy derived from statute or constitution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Notably, none of the prior cases cited by *Nedlloyd* had discussed California's "strong" public policy of enforcing choice of law provisions, so the need to articulate a higher standard than "strong" may have been less apparent.

2. Nedlloyd Established That a "Fundamental" Policy is One Set Forth in a Statute or Constitution (Now Expanded to a Principle of Unconscionability), and Designed to Restrict Freedom of Contract

Nedlloyd twice articulated what constitutes a "fundamental" policy, once for each cause of action it addressed. The first time the Court found there was no fundamental policy because there was no "government regulatory policy designed to restrict freedom of contract." (Nedlloyd, supra, 3 Cal.4th at 468.) The second time the Court found no fundamental policy because there was "no California statute or constitutional provision designed to preclude freedom of contract in this context." (Id. at 471.) Thus, Nedlloyd applied a practical test to determine what constitutes a fundamental policy sufficient to override the parties' contractual choice of law: the policy must be a government regulatory policy (i.e., set forth in a statute or constitution) that is designed to restrict or preclude freedom of contract. In practice, the test has been expanded to address situations where application of the chosen law violated an established rule of contractual unconscionability under California law. (See, e.g., Discover Bank, supra, 36 Cal.4th 148.)

Pursuant to *Nedlloyd*, as expanded by *Discover Bank*, for a California policy to overcome California's "strong" public policy of enforcing parties' choice of law, the California policy must be so important that it is enacted into law or the clause is so unfair as to be unconscionable. (*See*, *e.g.*, *Sonic-Calabasas A*, *Inc. v. Moreno* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1109, 1145 (holding that one of the recognized measures of unconscionability is when

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Pitzer argues Indian Harbor did not until appeal acknowledge that unconscionability could constitute a "fundamental" policy. Pitzer is mistaken. Indian Harbor's Reply brief in the trial court made that very point. (MSJ Reply at 14:15-15:6.)

a contract provision "shock[s] the conscience").) Under this approach, a common law cause of action or limitation on defense is insufficient to overcome the strong public policy of enforcing parties' agreement regarding choice of law.

This Court's analysis in Nedlloyd that limited a "fundamental" policy to that set forth in a constitution or statute did not arise in isolation, as it appears to parallel this Court's pronouncements on what constitutes a fundamental public policy in the context of *Tameny* claims (*Tameny* v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (1980) 27 Cal.3d 167). In Tameny, the Court created an exception to the at-will employment rule if the employee could show he or she was discharged in contravention of a "fundamental public policy." (Id.) In Gantt v. Sentry Insurance (1992) 1 Cal.4th 1083 (decided six months before *Nedlloyd*), the Court cautioned that "public policy' as a concept is notoriously resistant to precise definition, and that courts should venture into this area, if at all, with great care and due deference to the judgment of the legislative branch." (Id. at 1095.) The Court in Gantt therefore held that an employee must show that the interests they seek to protect are "carefully tethered to fundamental policies that are delineated in constitutional or statutory provisions." (Id. at 1095 (emphasis added); see also Stevenson v. Superior Court (1997) 16 Cal.4th 880, 889 (repeating standard and noting it allows employers to have "adequate notice of the conduct that will subject them to tort liability").) It seems likely that this Court had in mind its cautionary view of six months earlier in *Gantt* when it decided in *Nedlloyd* to limit a "fundamental" public policy to one tethered to constitutional or statutory provisions before a California court should consider overriding California's "strong" public policy of enforcing parties' contractual choice of law.

While Pitzer recognizes that *Nedlloyd* "articulated the standard" for when a California policy negates parties' choice of law (OB pp. 20-21),

Pitzer attempts to abbreviate the test *Nedlloyd* applied to permit Pitzer to argue that a common law rule can be a fundamental policy. This would be a chance in established law that is unwarranted. Specifically, Pitzer ignores the first part of the test (that it be set forth in a government regulatory policy, *i.e.*, a statute or constitution) and wishes to satisfy only the second part of the test (a restriction on freedom of contract). The reason Pitzer does so is obvious: it cannot demonstrate the first requirement. However, Pitzer cannot pick and choose the portion of the *Nedlloyd* test it wants to apply.

Pitzer's alleged support for its broad view of what can be a fundamental policy that trumps a choice of law provision are not helpful to it. For instance, Pitzer suggests that fundamental policies should be found in common law that benefits policyholders, noting that Comment (g) to Restatement section 187 states:

[A] fundamental policy may be embodied in a statute which makes one or more kinds of contracts illegal or which is designed to protect a person against the oppressive use of superior bargaining power. Statutes involving the rights of an individual insured as against an insurance company are an example of this sort. (Emphasis added by Pitzer (OB pp. 24-25).)

However, this comment is entirely consistent with the actual test used in *Nedlloyd* and Indian Harbor's argument: a fundamental policy may be found in what is codified by statute, but there is no suggestion that common law rules about coverage defenses can constitute a "fundamental" policy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Pitzer states: "A rule is designed to restrict freedom of contract when private parties to a contract cannot contract around the rule." (OB p. 21.) However, not just any "rule" can be a fundamental policy: *Nedlloyd* specifically identified "government regulatory policy," "statute," or "constitutional provision."

In addition, here we are not dealing with a consumer/"person" that needs the protection of the courts "against the oppressive use of superior bargaining power" — Pitzer is a sophisticated private institution that had others (including insurance professionals) negotiating and buying specialized insurance on its behalf.

Indian Harbor does not disagree with Pitzer that cases and the Restatement section 187 have said there is no bright-line rule, as not every statute will be considered a fundamental policy. However, that does not justify a departure from *Nedlloyd*'s specific articulation of the restricted approach to be followed in determining what is a fundamental policy in this context. In addition, a jurisdiction can develop its own practical approach for applying this standard, as this Court did in *Nedlloyd*, following the approach it had recently taken in *Gantt*.

Pitzer's argument that the *Nedlloyd* test should be read loosely to elevate common law policies over choice of law clauses is belied by the actual outcomes in the appellate decisions that have applied it. A review of all of the published California Court of Appeal decisions that have been issued since *Nedlloyd* reveals that the only time a choice of law provision has not been enforced based on the "fundamental" prong of the *Nedlloyd* test has been when the selection of another state's law was contrary to a policy set out in a statute, constitution, or rule of unconscionability:

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